IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00980

TIMBER LAKE FOODS, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

STEPHANIE ESTESS

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. CV-08-177

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Berkley N. Huskison, MSI Mitchell, McNutt & Sams, P.A. 215 5th Street North Post Office Box 1366 Columbus, MS 39703-1366 (662) 328-2316

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00980

TIMBER LAKE FOODS, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

STEPHANIE ESTESS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1.	Whether the trial court erred in finding that Timber Lake's non-compete agreement wit
	Stephanie Estess was unenforceable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual and Procedural Background

A. Procedural History

On July 24, 2008, Timber Lake Foods, Inc. ("Timber Lake") filed suit in the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi, against Stephanie Estess ("Ms. Estess") seeking to enforce a covenant not to compete. (Record 4-9 (hereinafter "R."). Ms. Estess worked as a meat and poultry broker for Timber Lake and signed an employment agreement that included a noncompete agreement when she began work. Shortly after her employment ended at Timber Lake, she began working for a direct competitor of Timber Lake in violation of her non-compete agreement. Timber Lake filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction on August 26, 2008. (R. 53-66). By Order entered on December 22, 2008, Chancellor Talmadge D. Littlejohn transferred the case to the Lee County Circuit Court. (R. 3). A hearing on Timber Lake's Motion for Preliminary Injunction was held before Circuit Court Judge Paul S. Funderburk on February 12, 2009. On April 21, 2009, Judge Funderburk entered an Order Denying Timber Lake's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. (R. 114-16; Record Excerpts Tab B). Timber Lake filed a Notice of Appeal from that order on May 21, 2009. (R. 117-18; Record Excerpts Tab D). After the Notice of Appeal was filed, on May 27, 2009, Judge Funderburk entered a Judgment of Dismissal of Claims in favor of Ms. Estess. (R. 121; Record Excerpts Tab C). Timber Lake filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on June 2, 2009. (R. 122; Record Excerpts Tab E). This matter is now ripe for a decision from the Mississippi Court of Appeals.

B. Statement of Facts

Timber Lake is a Mississippi corporation operating in Tupelo, Mississippi. The nature of Timber Lake's business is the brokerage of meat and/or poultry products (or the transportation thereof) to and between customers and suppliers. (Transcript (hereinafter "T.") 32-33, 74-75).

Timber Lake requires its sales representatives to execute non-compete agreements to protect its interest in the business. (T. 33, 36-37).

Ms. Estess (formerly Stephanie Neu) was hired as a Sales Representative of Timber Lake in January 2003. (T. 13-15). On January 13, 2003, Timber Lake entered into an Employment Agreement with Ms. Estess. (Id.). The Employment Agreement contained mutual covenants and assurances, and were entered into voluntarily and knowingly by all parties. Specifically, the Employment Agreement contained a covenant not to compete as follows:

* * *

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, Employer and Employee hereby agree as follows:

* * *

3. Covenant Not To Compete. Employee agrees that, except with written permission from Employer, he will not, during his employment by Employer and for a period of two (2) years after the end of his employment by Employer, perform any services regarding the brokerage of meat and/or poultry and products (or the transportation thereof), directly or indirectly, either as owner, partner, joint venturer, shareholder, employee, or consultant, for any person or business entity (or a subsidiary thereof) within a two hundred fifty (250) mile radius of Tupelo, Mississippi.

Employee acknowledges that such period is a reasonable period of time and that the geographical area set forth in the foregoing paragraph is reasonable. Employee represents and admits that in the event of termination of his employment, for any reason whatsoever, his experience and capabilities are such that the enforcement of a remedy by way of injunction will not prevent him from earning a livelihood.

* * *

(Ex. "P-1").

On April 4, 2008, Ms. Estess ended her employment with Timber Lake. (T. 22, 38-39).

The circumstances surrounding Ms. Estess' termination are not in dispute. Ms. Estess testified that she married Brian Estess, the son of the owner of Timber Lake on October 8, 2005. (T. 18). In the months leading up to her termination, Brian Estess was preparing for a kidney transplant. (T. 23). The donor of the kidney was Ashley Perkins, a friend of Brian's, that worked for Vector Transportation, a truck brokerage business operating out of the same building as Timber Lake and also owned by Joe Estess. (T. 23, 38-39). Ms. Estess testified that, at some point prior to the kidney transplant, she began an affair with Mr. Perkins. (T. 23). The kidney transplant took place on Sunday, March 30. Brian Estess confronted Ms. Estess about the affair in the days after the transplant. (T. 24). Even with the obvious problems, Ms. Estess returned to work the week of March 31. (T. 24). Joe Estess testified about the tension at Timber Lake when Ms. Estess returned to work. (T. 38-39). There are 5-10 other sales representatives that work at Timber Lake and all were aware of Ms. Estess' affair. (T. 35, 38-39). Recognizing that there would be no way for Ms. Estess to continue working at Timber Lake under these circumstances, Joe Estess made the decision to dismiss Ms. Estess. (T. 38-39). He met with Ms. Estess on Friday, April 4, and told her of his decision and the reasons that it was necessary. (Id.). Brian and Stephanie have since completed a divorce.

A few days after her dismissal, Ms. Estess was contacted by Lawrence Wholesale, a direct competitor of Timber Lake. (T. 12, 27). Lawrence Wholesale would have not interest in her as an employee if she had not worked at Timber Lake. Ms. Estess was trained at Timber Lake. (T. 15-17, 34-35). She was introduced to customers and suppliers that had previously built relationships with Timber Lake. (T. 15-17, 34-35). As a sales representative, Ms. Estess had access to customer listings, including contact information and credit lines, supplier lists, sales reports by customer and supplier, including gross profit, sales volumes and margins. (T. 17-18, 35-37, 76). Ms. Estess also gained additional knowledge of Timber Lake as a member of 658791

the Estess family. (T. 35). Ms. Estess began work at Lawrence Wholesale on or about April 24, 2008. (T. 11-12; See Ex. "P-5", Lawrence Wholesale Sales Reports). She worked as a sales representative for Lawrence Wholesale out of her home in Prentiss County, Mississippi, which is a violation of the aforementioned covenant not to compete. (T. 12).

Ms. Estess admitted that the only customers and suppliers that she has booked business with since she started at Lawrence Wholesale (excepting one customer) were customers and suppliers that she was introduced to and built relationships with while working at Timber Lake. (T. 88-89). Her testimony was further supported by sales records of both Lawrence Wholesale and Timber Lake. (See Exs. "P-5 – P-8"). Joe Estess testified about the profit losses that could be calculated when comparing Timber Lake's business records with the records provided by Lawrence Wholesale and estimated a \$60,000 loss in gross profits from the accounts that Ms. Estess worked before leaving Timber Lake. (T. 41). Ms. Estess' unique relationship with the Estess family and the knowledge and experience that she gained from that relationship and her employment at Timber Lake give her and Lawrence Wholesale an unfair advantage in this business.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Stephanie Estess was hired as a sales representative for Timber Lake in January 2003. At that time, she signed an employment agreement that contained a covenant not-to-compete. Ms. Estess spent the next five years learning and growing in the Timber Lake business. Timber Lake expends much time and effort in training their sales representatives. It provides sales representatives with access to customer and supplier lists and, most importantly, profit margins. Ms. Estess also gained more significant knowledge of the business because she married Brian Estess, the son of Timber Lake owner Joe Estess. After her employment ended at Timber Lake on April 4, 2008, Ms. Estess went to work for Lawrence Wholesale, a direct competitor of Timber Lake. She began work at Lawrence Wholesale on April 24, 2008. Ms. Estess has admitted that the only customers and suppliers that she did business with since she started at Lawrence Wholesale were customers and suppliers that she was introduced to and built the relationships with while working at Timber Lake. Her unique relationship with the Estess family and knowledge and experience that she gained from the relationship during her employment at Timber Lake gives her and Timber Lake competitors an unfair advantage in the meat brokerage business. This is the primary reason that Timber Lake uses non-compete agreements with its sales representatives. Several years before this decision by Circuit Judge Paul Funderburk, Lee County Chancery Court Judge Jacqueline Mask upheld an identical non-compete agreement in a similar case and the evidence presented here establishes the enforceability of the non-compete agreement. Timber Lake's non-compete agreement entered into and signed voluntarily by Ms. Estess is valid and enforceable and the decision of the Lee County Circuit Court should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

A party moving for a preliminary injunction must demonstrate the following elements: (1) a substantial likelihood that the movant will prevail on the merits; (2) a substantial threat that the movant will suffer irreparable injury if the injunction is not granted; (3) that the threatened injury to the movant outweighs the threat and harm the injunction may do to the non-moving party; and (4) that granting a preliminary injunction will not disserve the public interest. Killebrew v. City of Greenwood, 988 F. Supp. 1014, 1015 (N.D. Miss. 1997); Taylor v. Cordis Corp., 634 F. Supp. 1242, 1247 (S.D. Miss. 1986). Timber Lake established the elements in this case and the decision of the Circuit Court should be reversed.

Employers use covenants not to compete to protect their company's various business interests, which include their time and expense in training essential employees, protection of confidential/proprietary information and protection of existing relationships with its customer base. Under Mississippi law, covenants not to compete will be enforced if the party seeking enforcement proves that the covenant is reasonable. Redd Pest Control Co., Inc. v. Foster, 761 So.2d 967, 972 (Miss. App. 2000). The validity and enforceability of a non-competition agreement are largely predicated upon the reasonableness and specificity of its terms, primarily, the duration of the restriction and its geographic scope. Kennedy v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 759 So.2d 362, 364 (Miss. 2000). In determining reasonableness, the Mississippi Supreme Court has focused primarily on three major aspects: the rights of the employer, the rights of the employee, and the rights of the public. Union National Life Ins. Co. v. Tillman, 143 F.Supp.2d 638, 643 (N.D. Miss. 2001); Herring Gas Co., Inc. v. Magee, 813 F. Supp. 1239, 1245 (S.D. Miss. 1993). Timber Lake's non-compete agreement is reasonable and enforceable and should be enforced here.

A. TIMBER LAKE IS LIKELY TO SUCCEED ON THE MERITS.

It is well established that Mississippi courts will enforce covenants not to compete, which are made a part of employment contracts, so long as those covenants are reasonable. Redd Pest Control Co., Inc. v. Foster, 761 So.2d 967, 972 (Miss. App. 2000); Herring Gas Co., Inc. v. Magee, 813 F. Supp. 1239, 1245 (S.D. Miss. 1993), aff'd, 22 F.2d 603 (5th Cir. 1994). Fortunately for Timber Lake here, Lee County Chancellor Jacqueline Mask has previously upheld an identical non-compete agreement in favor of Vector Transportation, a truck brokerage business, under similar facts. Vector Transportation Co. v. Conner, No. 01-1298 (Lee County Chancery Court, December 20, 2001)(Opinion and Judgment at Record Excerpt at Tab F). Judge Mask's decision clearly supports the reasonableness of the non-competition agreement at issue in this case.

Ms. Estess initially argued in the lower court that the agreement should not be enforced because Timber Lake's decision to dismiss her employment was in breach of her employment contract. Ms. Estess' made this argument even though the provisions of the employment agreement clearly establish that Ms. Estess was employed at-will and employment could be terminated by either party at any time. The specific section of the agreement reads as follows:

4. <u>Term of Agreement</u>. Employee's employment hereunder shall continue so long as he shall render services to Employer in a manner satisfactory to Employer in Employer's sole discretion, provided, however, that Employee's employment hereunder may be terminated by either party at any time by giving written or verbal notice to the other party.

(Ex. "P-1", Employment Agreement at ¶4). The terms of the employment agreement at issue establishes the at-will nature of Ms. Estess' employment with Timber Lake. The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that if an employer's termination of the employee is *arbitrary*, *capricious*, *or in bad faith*, the court may find the covenant unenforceable. Empire Gas, Inc. of Kosciusko v. Bain, 599 So.2d 971, 975 (Miss. 1992). In other words, in order for an employee to void an employment agreement, as Ms. Estess wants to do here, the employee must show that the 658791

employer's termination was arbitrary, capricious or in bad faith. Ms. Estess has not made that showing in this case. More importantly, Timber Lake has provided a good faith reason for Ms. Estess' dismissal. Ms. Estess argued that she was a valuable sales person for Timber Lake and dismissing a valuable employee breaches the employment contract. Generating positive sales is not the only aspect of a sales person's job. Sales representatives at Timber Lake must work in an environment with five to ten other sales representatives and Joe Estess' testimony about the problems that Ms. Estess' extramarital affair with an employee of a truck brokerage business located in the same building provides the necessary support for her dismissal. It cannot be seriously argued that Ms. Estess' relationship with her husband's best friend, a friend that donated a kidney to her husband only days before her employment ended, does not provide good cause for dismissal. Ms. Estess cannot establish that her dismissal was arbitrary, capricious or in bad faith in this case and her argument that Timber Lake breached this agreement has no support in fact or law.

Ms. Estess also argued in the lower court that the 250 mile limitation of the covenant not to compete is ambiguous and not reasonable because a sales representative conducts business almost entirely by telephone and to limit the physical location of the employee would not be beneficial to Timber Lake under these circumstances. This argument does not establish unreasonableness. The non-compete agreement states in relevant part that the employee:

will not, during his employment by Employer and for a period of two (2) years after the end of his employment by Employer, perform any services regarding the brokerage of meat and/or poultry products (or the transportation thereof), directly or indirectly, either as owner, partner, joint venturer, shareholder, employee, or consultant, for any person or business entity (or a subsidiary thereof) within a two hundred fifty (250) mile radius of Tupelo, Mississippi.

There is nothing ambiguous or unreasonable about this language. Ms. Estess herself

acknowledged in her Employment Agreement that the time and geographic limitations were reasonable given the experience and knowledge she obtained in this business from Timber Lake. (Ex. "P-1", Employment Agreement at ¶ 3). Joe Estess testified that Timber Lake sought to limit only the physical location of the competing employee because Timber Lake believed that such a limitation would be reasonable and enforceable. (T. 57-59). Timber Lake simply does not want to train these employees, teach them the business and have them leave and compete with them in this limited area. Judge Mask specifically held that identical terms in the Vector Transportation non-compete agreement were clear and reasonable. (See Record Excerpts Tab F; Vector Transportation Co. v. Conner at p. 4).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that if the language of a contract is plain and unambiguous, it must be enforced as written. Century 21 Deep South Properties v. Keys, 652 So.2d 707, 716-17 (Miss. 1995). The covenant not to compete is plain and unambiguous and this court should enforce it as written. The Supreme Court of Oregon has enforced an identical non-compete agreement for a truck brokerage company against two former carrier-side dispatchers. Cascade Exchange, Inc. v. Reed, 565 P.2d 1095 (Ore. 1977). Cascade sought to enforce a covenant against two transportation side brokers that read as follows:

Upon the termination of this agreement Parker will refrain directly or indirectly from the carrying on a business similar to that involved under this agreement in the State of Oregon for period of two years from the date of termination.

The court recognized that the business was conducted almost entirely by telephone, but found that the State of Oregon area limitation was reasonable in this business in view of the interstate character of Cascade's business. <u>Cascade</u>, 565 P.2d at 1098. The court recognized the unfair advantage that a former employee gains if allowed to gain experience and learn skills and techniques in the truck brokerage business only to leave shortly thereafter to work in a competing

business. <u>Id.</u> at 1097. The non-compete agreement between Timber Lake and Stephanie Estess is reasonable and clear and should be enforced.

B. TIMBER LAKE WILL BE IRREPARABLY HARMED.

Injury of the type that Timber Lake is experiencing and will continue to experience warrants protection. If the non-compete agreement is not enforced, Ms. Estess will continue to solicit business from customers and suppliers that she was introduced to and built relationships with at Timber Lake and she will continue to use her knowledge of profit margins at Timber Lake to gain an unfair advantage in conducting business with those customers and suppliers. The detrimental impact on Timber Lake is irreparable under Mississippi and federal law. The testimony from both Ms. Estess and Joe Estess established irreparable harm. Since leaving Timber Lake, the only meat brokering business that Ms. Estess has done (excepting business with Robinson & Harrison, another broker) has been with customers and suppliers that she was introduced to and built relationships with at Timber Lake. (T. 88-89). The hearing testimony showed the loss of business that Timber Lake was experiencing from customers and suppliers that are now booking more frequently with Lawrence Wholesale. (T. 41-42; Exs. "P-6 – P-8").

In addition, Timber Lake will be irreparably harmed by the potential loss of other sales persons that it spends much time and expense training. Joe Estess testified about the vital importance of sales persons to Timber Lake's business and the irreparable harm Timber Lake will suffer if this non-compete agreement is not enforced. (T. 33, 44). Sales Representatives are central to the operation of the business. Courts have consistently held that loss of training time and costs and the potential use of proprietary information establishes injury and harm to the employer. For example, in <u>Taylor v. Cordis</u>, 634 F. Supp. 1242, 1243-46 (S.D. Miss. 1986), the court held that the extensive training that the employer had given a pacemaker salesman, the time and expenses associated with the training and the special skills learned by the salesman were

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