TIMBER LAKE FOODS, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

STEPHANIE ESTESS

APPELLEE

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NUMBER CV-08-177

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JOHN A. FERRELL
FERRELL & MARTIN, P.A.
POST OFFICE BOX 146
BOONEVILLE, MISSISSIPPI 38829
TELEPHONE (662)728-5361
MISSISSIPPI STATE BAR

Attorney for Appellee

TIMBER LAKE FOODS, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

STEPHANIE ESTESS

APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court correctly held that the no-competition provisions of the employment contract between Stephanie and Timber Lake was unenforceable due to its being unreasonable. The basis of this decision was that the 250 mile geographic provision afforded no protection to Timber Lake as its business was national in scope, operated on using a telephone and a computer and Stephanie could just as effectively compete with Timber Lake 251 miles from Tupelo as next door to Timber Lake's office in Tupelo. Therefore, the preliminary injunction was properly denied as Timber lake could not show a substantial likelihood that it would prevail on the merits of the case.

All of the potential thousands of customers of Timber Lake are non-exclusive, there are thousands of brokers engaged in the same business as Timber Lake and there are hundreds of entities who process the chickens. Timber Lake did not show any real proprietary or confidential information that was protectable, could show no customer list or sale information that was protectable as

the price list are published daily in a national report available to all entities engaged in this business. Estess simply wanted to enforce the no-compete against Stephanie to make her move to continue to work in the industry because he employed her and trained her in the business. This cannot formulate the basis for a legitimate business interest that must be present in order for the no-compete provisions to be upheld and the Lower Court committed no error in holding that it was not enforceable.

TIMBER LAKE FOODS, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

STEPHANIE ESTESS

APPELLEE

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Introduction</u>

Timber Lake correctly states what a moving party must prove in order for a preliminary injunction to issue:

- 1. A substantial likelihood that the movant will prevail on the merits;
- 2. A substantial likelihood that the movant will suffer irreparable injury if the injunction is not granted;
- 3. The threat of injury to the movant outweighs the threat of harm the injunction may do to the non-moving parties;
- 4. Granting a preliminary injunction will not disserve the public interest.

It should be noted that the relief sought by Timber Lake before the trial court was a preliminary injunction to enjoin Stephanie from continuing to work for Lawrence Wholesale, one of the thousands of competitors of Timber Lake. Stephanie was terminated on April 4, 2008, and therefore, as of the filing of the Brief of Appellee, the two year time frame of the no-compete

agreement has already passed. Therefore, the issue of preliminary injunction is now moot.

Having said this, however, it is also obvious that Judge Funderburk made a determination that Timber Lake failed to meet the first test for a preliminary injunction to wit, a substantial likelihood that the movant will prevail on the merits, with his ruling that the no-compete provision of the contract of employment between Stephanie and Timber Lake was not enforceable. (TAB B, CP 114-116)

Judge Funderburk properly noted that the 250 mile provision of the no-compete agreement was unreasonable and ineffective. The Court was correct in his finding that if Ms. Estess were required to conduct business 250 miles from Tupelo, she could continue to contact the same buyers and suppliers that she was currently doing business with at Lawrence Wholesale as well as those whom she contacted while working for Timber Lake. Therefore, the Court found that the geographic scope was unreasonable as it offered no protection to Timber Lake for any protectable interest. (TAB B, CP 115)

The Lower Court was clearly correct in its assessment of this case and the denial of the preliminary injunction should be upheld.

A. The non-compete provision is unenforceable and therefore, a preliminary injunction against Stephanie is improper as Timber Lake cannot show a likelihood of success on the merits.

Non-competition agreements have been viewed by the Mississippi Supreme Court as "restrictive contracts which are in restrain of trade and individual freedom and are not favorites of the law". Frierson v. Shepard Building Supply Co., 247 Miss. 157, 172, 154 (1963), cited in the case of Kennedy v. So. 151. 156 Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, 759 So. 2nd 362 ¶4 (Miss. The Court in Kennedy went on to state that only when such agreements are reasonable will be they be considered valid and upheld by the Court. The burden of proof of the reasonableness of these agreements is on the employer. (Kennedy ¶4) In addition, the Supreme Court has held that "when an employer terminates an employee in bad faith, the terms of the non-competition agreement will not be enforced." Empire Gas, Inc., of Kosciusko v. Bains 599 So. 2nd 971, 976 (Miss. 1992). It has already been noted that the reason that Stephanie was terminated had nothing to do with her job performance but was because she was divorcing the boss's son and apparently had engaged in an affair which undoubtedly was one of the reasons for the divorce. (Tr. 39, 45-46) As Joe Estess admitted, Stephanie was an excellent employee, (Tr. 37) according to her contract of employment, firing her because she was divorcing his son, smacks of bad faith. Therefore, for this reason non-competition portion alone. the of the contract was unenforceable.

However, this alone is not the only nor the most important reason that the non-competition agreement was unenforceable as

correctly held by Judge Funderburk. (R.E. TAB B, CP 114-116) While most of the cases discuss reasonableness in relation to the duration of the restriction and the geographic distance, the cases also talk about the economic justification as being an essential element for consideration as to whether or not the non-compete agreement is reasonable or not and thus enforceable or not. Τn Empire Gas at page 976, the Supreme Court held: "This Court is committed to the general rule requiring the employer in a case such Trial to demonstrate to the Court the as justification, the reasonableness of the restrain which is sought to be imposed." In the case of Redd Pest Control v. Heatherly 157 So. 2nd 133, 136 (Miss. 1963), the Supreme Court similarly held that the agreement would be enforceable to the extent that it is reasonable if it protects a legitimate business interest. The fact that the employee may have signed the agreement and that the employer may have trained the employee in the business have never been reasons for enforcing a non-compete agreement in any case in the State of Mississippi. Every case speaks of the requirement that the employer prove an economic justification and a legitimate interest to protect before the non-compete agreement will be enforced.

In this case, it is clear that there are no such legitimate business interests to be protected. In the pleadings filed by Timber Lake, they alleged that the business interest that they have a right to protect are confidential and proprietary information,

customer base, client list, trade secrets and good will. (CP 4-9) However, it is abundantly clear that none of those various business interest truly exist. (Tr. 57,58,62,65,76,77-78,79,82)

First, the type of business that Timber Lake is engaged in is national in scope. (Tr. 33,57,75,79-80) The proof showed that there are thousands of people engaged in the same business as Timber Lake, (Tr 47) there are thousands of non-exclusive customers that businesses such as Timber Lake sell to (Tr. 47) and there are hundreds of meat processors who process the chicken that Timber Lake seeks to sell to the customers. (Tr. 46) These thousands of brokers are all selling to basically the same customers and are buying from the same processors. (Tr. 46-47) Therefore, the allegation about desiring to maintain the integrity of their customer base and customer list is totally unfounded in fact.

All of these potential customers are non-exclusive (Tr. 75) and their names are in national publications for the benefit of the thousands of meat brokers like Timber Lake. (Tr. 54, 76-77) Further, everybody in the industry knows who the processors are and the price of chickens is published in a national market report on a daily basis, the Urner-Barry Report. (Tr. 47-77) The cost of chickens when Stephanie was fired had nothing to do with the cost of chickens the day after and the contention of Timber Lake that they need this non-compete provision to maintain the integrity of their confidential and proprietary information, customer base, client list, trade secrets and good will is simply not true.

Joe Estess was asked about one of the sales representative,

Joe Buck, who was not required to sign a non-competition agreement.

(Tr. 62) Estess responded that the reason Buck was not required
to sign a no-compete agreement was that he had experience in the
industry and therefore, it was not necessary. (Tr. 62) That one
question and answer clearly reveals that there is nothing
confidential, proprietary, special or a trade secret of Timber Lake
different from anyone else in the industry. If there were, Mr.
Buck would need to have signed the no-compete agreement regardless
of his experience. The simple fact is, there is no legitimate
business interest of Timber Lake to protect that is reasonably
protectable.

As determined by Judge Funderburk, the 250 mile geographic restriction in the non-compete agreement at issue is unreasonable as it affords no protection whatsoever to Timber Lake. (R.E. TAB B, CP 14-16) Joe Estess admitted that his business functioned using a telephone and a computer. (Tr. 33)There are no local customers to worry about losing within the 250 mile radius and this is just an arbitrary figure that Timber Lake plugged into its noncompete agreement because typically a geographic area is included. (Tr. 58,60) In this case, the only purpose of the 250 mile radius is to require Stephanie to move 251 miles from Tupelo in order to be able to work for Lawrence Wholesale. (Tr. 65,82) There is no legitimate business interest of Timber Lake to protect within that distance, it just merely seeks to work a hardship on Stephanie, not

a legitimate business interest of Timber Lake. (Tr. 59, 82) Stephanie can compete just as effectively 251 miles from Tupelo as she can next door to the Tupelo office of Timber Lake. This being the case, there is no legitimate business interest to protect by the 250 mile provision as it is, frankly, not protectable. (Tr. 57, 58-59)

The real reason that Joe Estess wants to enforce the no-compete agreement is because he is laboring under the misconception that when you train someone and they work for you, it is reasonable to not allow them to work in that same industry when they leave employment. (Tr. 62) This has never been the law in Mississippi. It can only be assumed that every person who works is trained somewhat by their employer in how to do their job. However, this does not give rise to a no-compete restriction under Mississippi law unless it can be determined that there is a legitimate business interest to be protected. Redd Pest Control at \$136

Some of the landmark cases in Mississippi have already been cited and it is certainly understandable how a local gas company in Kosciusko, Mississippi would be concerned about an ex-employee stealing their gas customers in the Kosciusko area as in the Empire Gas case. It is also understandable how Redd Pest Control Company located in Lee County, Mississippi would be concerned about an exemployee stealing its pest control customers in the Lee County area as in the Redd Pest Control case. It is also understandable how

a building supply company in Hinds County, Mississippi would be concerned about an ex-employee stealing its customers in the Hinds County area as in the Frierson case. In spite of all this, however, and in spite of the obvious fact that these various employees were trained by these various local entities, the Supreme Court still required the analysis that has been discussed herein and held that there must be some legitimate business interest to be protected. However, in this case, all of the customers are not only known to all brokers in the industry but are nationwide and non-exclusive. That is the very reason that Judge Funderburk held the 250 geographic area in the non-compete agreement to be unreasonable as it affords no protection whatsoever to Timber Lake even if Timber Lake had information to be protected, which it does For this reason alone, the employment contract as noted by Judge Funderburk is unreasonable and unenforceable.

One case in Mississippi addresses to some extent this very point. In the <u>Redd Pest Control</u> case at Page 145, this Court held, "In short, Redd did not need to be protected throughout the state for the reasons that if Heavenly entered into competition with Redd anywhere except the Tupelo area, he would have no more advantage that any other competitor. Accordingly, we are unable to say that the Chancellor erred in holding that it would be unreasonable to restrict Heavenly throughout the state."

If Stephanie has a competitive advantage, it is because of her personal traits of having a good personality and drive Joe Estess

admitted these traits were one of the reasons that she was employed and was successful. (Tr. 37, 49) These are qualities that she brought to the table and cannot be the basis of enforcing this unreasonable no-competition agreement.

In analyzing no-competition agreements, this Court has recognized that there are three major factors to be considered, to wit: the rights of the employer, the rights of employee and the rights of the public. Texas Road Boring Company of Louisiana-Mississippi v. Parker 194 So. 2nd 885, 888, (Miss. 1967) In looking at these various interests that the Court considers, it is clear that Timber Lake has not shown a legitimate business purpose to exist justifying the enforcing of this non-compete agreement. Again, the fact that they trained her is no justification for enforcing a no-compete agreement and the fact that she is a pleasant person and a good salesman are traits of her personality and had nothing to do with training, proprietary information, etc.

To grant the injunction would have had a devastating effect on Stephanie, however. She has limited education, has limited work experience and in this particular climate jobs are hard to find. Her only skills are selling chickens and waiting on tables. The agreement as written does not prohibit her from working in competition with Timber Lake but requires her to move to do so. This is unreasonable and certainly not a legitimate business interest that Timber Lake is entitled to protect. As noted in the Empire Gas case at page 976 in speaking of the alternatives of the

employee in that case, "his alternatives were to work for Fair Propane in Ackerman or to find another job outside the 50 mile radius which would require a lengthy commute or uprooting his family from its home. An equitable balancing of the rights of the employer and employee leads us to conclude that enforcement of the agreement would have far more oppressive affect on Bain (employee) than its non-enforcement would have on Empire Gas (employer)."

Again, there has been no legitimate proof offered that the sales that Stephanie did make while working at Lawrence had any adverse affect on Timber Lake. Joe Estess testified that the chicken business was good while Stephanie noted that the economy had hurt the business significantly and referenced one of the major players having filed bankruptcy. (Tr. 79) When pressed, Joe Estess admitted that basically what he was trying to do was to force her to move in order to compete, a situation that is in no way legitimate. (Tr.65)

B. <u>Timber Lake's reliance on the Opinion of Judge Mask is</u> mis-placed.

Timber Lake makes mention of a decision of Chancellor, Jacqueline Estes Mask in a case involving Vector Trucking. In the first place, Timber Lake cites no authority that would justify this Court's finding that Judge Mask's decision in that case was res judicata on the reasonableness of the no-competition provisions of Timber Lake's contract. Absent a citing of authority to that effect, this point should not be considered by the Supreme Court.

In addition, that case involved a completely different business, a trucking concern, a completely different set of facts, (apparently the individual in the Vector Freight case was terminated for a legitimate cause) and all of the facts of that case are unknown. Each case must stand on its own and the reasonableness of the contract must be determined by the factual situation in each case. Empire Gas at 976 Therefore, the reliance on Judge Mask's decision is mis-placed and certainly Judge Funderburk was not bound thereby on the facts of this case.

TIMBER LAKE FOODS, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

STEPHANIE ESTESS

APPELLEE

CONCLUSION

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